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Medicare, Medicaid, and all federal health care programs for a minimum 
period of 25 years. 

 
The Ohio Board alleged that Dr. Procter’s acts, conduct and/or omissions constitute: 
 
1. “Selling, giving away, personally furnishing, prescribing, or administering 

drugs for other than legal and legitimate therapeutic purposes or a plea of 
guilty to, a judicial finding of guilt of, or a judicial finding of eligibility for 
intervention in lieu of conviction of, a violation of any federal or state law 
regulating the possession, distribution, or use of any drug” as that 
language is used in Section 4731.22(B)(3), Ohio Revised Code;  

 
2. A “plea of guilty to, a judicial finding of guilt of, or a judicial finding of 

eligibility for intervention in lieu of conviction for, a felony,” as that 
language is used in Section 4731.22(B)(9), Ohio Revised Code; and 

 
3. “Termination or suspension from participation in the medicare or 

medicaid programs by the department of health and human services or 
other responsible agency for any act or acts that also would constitute a 
violation of division (B)(2), (3), (6), (8), or (19) of this section” as that 
language is used in Section 4731.22(B)(25), Ohio Revised Code, to  
wit:  violation of 21 U.S.C. 846 and 841(a)(1). 

 
Accordingly, the Ohio Board advised Dr. Procter of his right to request a hearing in 
this matter.  (State’s Exhibit 1A) 

 
B. By letter filed on October 4, 2006, Dr. Procter requested a hearing.  (State’s Exhibit 

1B) 
 

II. Appearances
 

A. On behalf of the State of Ohio:  Marc Dann, Attorney General, by Kyle C. Wilcox, 
Assistant Attorney General. 

 
B. Dr. Procter appeared on his own behalf. 

 
 

EVIDENCE EXAMINED 
 
I. Testimony Heard
 

No witnesses were presented. 
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II. Exhibits Examined
 

A. Presented by the State 
 

State’s Exhibits 1A through 1H:  Procedural exhibits. 
 
State’s Exhibit 2A:  Indictment in United States of America v. David Herbert Procter, 
M.D., et al., Case No. 02CR11, redacted in part. 
 
State’s Exhibit 3A:  Plea Agreement in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 02CR11, redacted in 
part. 
 
State’s Exhibit 4:  Judgment in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 02CR11. 
 
State’s Exhibit 5:  Amended Judgment in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 02CR11, redacted 
in part. 
 
State’s Exhibit 6:  Minutes from April 28, 2003, arraignment in U.S. v. Procter, Case 
No. 02CR11. 
 
State’s Exhibit 7:  Minutes from February 17, 2004, sentencing in United States of 
America v. David Herbert Procter, et al., Case No. 03-4. 
 
State’s Exhibit 8A:  Indictment in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 03-4, redacted in part. 
 
State’s Exhibit 9A:  Superseding Indictment in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 03-4, 
redacted in part. 
 
State’s Exhibit 10A:  Plea agreement in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 03-4, redacted in 
part. 
 
State’s Exhibit 11:  Judgment in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 03-4. 
 
State’s Exhibit 12A:  Transcript from the April 28, 2003, hearing in U.S. v. Procter, 
Case No. 02CR11, redacted in part. 
 
State’s Exhibit 13:  Documents maintained by the Ohio Board related to two prior 
Ohio disciplinary matters involving Dr. Procter. 
 
State’s Exhibit 14:  April 30, 2004, exclusion notice to Dr. Procter from the Office of 
Inspector General, United States Department of Health and Human Services. 
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B. Presented by the Respondent 
 

No exhibits were presented. 
 
C. Proffered Exhibits 
 
 The following exhibits were neither admitted to the record nor considered by the 

Hearing Examiner, but were held as proffered material: 
 

State’s Exhibit 2:  Indictment in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 02CR11, unredacted. 
 
State’s Exhibit 3:  Plea Agreement in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 02CR11, unredacted. 
 
State’s Exhibit 8:  Indictment in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 03-4, unredacted. 
 
State’s Exhibit 9:  Superseding Indictment in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 03-4, 
unredacted. 
 
State’s Exhibit 10:  Plea agreement in U.S. v. Procter, Case No. 03-4, unredacted. 
 
State’s Exhibit 12:  Transcript from the April 28, 2003, hearing in U.S. v. Procter, 
Case No. 02CR11, unredacted. 

 
 

PROCEDURAL MATTERS 
 

In Dr. Procter’s request for a hearing in this matter, he asked that the hearing be delayed until 
after the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit had issued its decision in his 
appeal, Case No. 06-5586.  By letter dated October 19, 2006, the Hearing Examiner explained to 
Dr. Procter the Ohio Board’s long-standing policy of not delaying its hearings for such a purpose 
and notified him of Section 4731.22(H), Ohio Revised Code, in the event that his pleas and 
convictions are overturned.  (State’s Exhibit 1D) 
 
Also, the Hearing Examiner noticed that the Respondent’s social security number was listed on 
State’s Exhibit 5.  That number was redacted from State’s Exhibit 5 post-hearing. 
 
 

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE 
 
All admitted exhibits and the transcript, even if not specifically mentioned, were thoroughly 
reviewed and considered by the Hearing Examiner prior to preparing this Report and 
Recommendation. 
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1. In 1977, the Kentucky Board issued a license to David Herbert Procter, M.D., to practice as 

a physician in that state.  In 1978, the Ohio Board issued a certificate to Dr. Procter to 
allow him to practice as a physician in Ohio.  Also in 1978, the Drug Enforcement 
Administration authorized Dr. Procter to write prescriptions for controlled substances.  
(State’s Exhibit [St. Ex.] 3A at 2; March 7, 2006 <https://license.ohio.gov/Lookup/Search 
Detail.asp?ContactIdnt=2979336&DivisionIdnt=78&Type=L>) 

 
2. From 1977 through nearly all 1998, Dr. Procter practiced medicine in the South Shore area 

of Kentucky, which is across the Ohio River from Portsmouth, Ohio.  Beginning around 
January 1999 and continuing through June 2002, Dr. Procter did not actively practice 
medicine, but was in charge of his clinics in the South Shore area of Kentucky.  (St. Exs. 
3A at 2, 13 at 13) 

 
3. In April 1987, the Ohio Board notified Dr. Procter that it had proposed disciplinary action 

against his Ohio certificate because:  (a) the Kentucky Board had suspended Dr. Procter’s 
Kentucky license based upon improper prescribing practices; and (b) Dr. Procter did not 
correctly indicate on his Ohio certificate renewal application that disciplinary action had 
been taken or initiated against him since his last renewal.  (St. Ex. 13 at 66-67) 

 
The Kentucky Board subsequently rescinded its suspension decision and ordered that no 
disciplinary action be taken against Dr. Procter.  Thereafter, the Ohio Board concluded that 
no current “other state action” had occurred, but Dr. Procter had misrepresented a fact on 
his Ohio license renewal application.  Accordingly, the Ohio Board reprimanded 
Dr. Procter on April 13, 1988.  (St. Ex. 13 at 56-65) 

 
4. On July 14, 1999, the Ohio Board summarily suspended Dr. Procter’s Ohio certificate on 

the ground that his continued practice presented a danger of immediate and serious harm to 
the public.  Moreover, the Ohio Board notified Dr. Procter that it intended to determine 
whether to discipline his Ohio certificate as a result of a June 18, 1999, Emergency Order 
of Suspension issued by the Kentucky Board.  The Kentucky Board had found that, in light 
of several facts, Dr. Procter’s practice of medicine in that state constituted a danger to his 
patients and the general public.  Among other things, the Kentucky Board found probable 
cause to warrant findings of fact that: 

 
a. Dr. Procter had engaged in sexual activity with three female patients during 

office visits; 
 
b. Upon review of more than 60 patient charts, Dr. Procter had departed from and 

failed to conform to standards of acceptable and prevailing medical practice; 
 
c. He had committed a pattern of acts that would be deemed to be “gross 

incompetence, gross ignorance, gross negligence or malpractice;” 
 



Report and Recommendation 
In the Matter of David Herbert Procter, M.D. 
Page 6 
 
 

d. Dr. Procter’s neurologist had ordered him not to work due to having a memory 
deficit secondary to a closed head injury suffered in a traffic accident; and  

 
e. A neuropsychological evaluation recommended that Dr. Procter refrain from 

practicing medicine until the above deficits have remitted to permit adequate 
performance of duties. 

 
(St. Ex. 13 at 16, 26-30, 32-36) 
 
On August 17, 2000, the Kentucky Board issued an Agreed Order of Surrender, in which 
Dr. Procter agreed to an indefinite suspension of his Kentucky license based upon the fact 
that he had “developed a physical or mental disability, or other condition, such that 
continued practice is dangerous to patients or the public.”  (St. Ex. 13 at 16) 

 
 On November 8, 2000, the Ohio Board suspended Dr. Procter’s Ohio certificate for an 

indefinite period of time, imposed several conditions before it would consider 
reinstatement, and imposed a five-year probationary period with terms, conditions, and 
limitations thereafter.  Among the conditions for reinstatement was a requirement that 
Dr. Procter provide the Ohio Board with acceptable documentation of his full and 
unrestricted licensure in Kentucky.  (St. Ex. 13 at 3-23) 

 
5. On July 15, 2002, an indictment was filed in the United States District Court for the 

Eastern District of Kentucky charging Dr. Procter with four felony counts.  He was re-
arraigned on April 28, 2003.  Dr. Procter was charged in the first three counts as follows: 
 

Count One:  Beginning in about 1996 and continuing through June of 2002,   
* * *  [Dr. Procter and others] did knowingly and intentionally conspire 
confederate and agree together  * * *  [to] knowingly and intentionally 
distribute, dispense, and possess with intent to distribute and dispense, 
measurable quantities of Schedule II, Schedule III and Schedule IV controlled 
substances; all in violation of Title 21 United States Code Section 846. 
 

 Count Two:  Between on or about December of 1997 and continuing through on 
or about October 1998,  * * *  [Dr. Procter] did knowingly and intentionally 
distribute and dispense measurable quantities of Schedule III and Schedule IV 
controlled substances to [name redacted] without a legitimate medical purpose 
and outside the usual course of medical practice; all in violation of Title 21 
United States Code Section 841(a)(1). 

 
Count Three:  Between on or about November of 1996 and continuing through 
on or about October of 1998,  * * *  [Dr. Procter] did knowingly and 
intentionally distribute and dispense measurable quantities of Schedule III and 
Schedule IV controlled substances to [name redacted] without a legitimate  
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medical purpose and outside the usual course of medical practice; all in violation 
of Title 21 United States Code Section 841(a)(1). 

 
(St. Ex. 2A at 3-5; St. Ex. 12A at 4-7; St. Ex. 6)  The case was designated United States of 
America v. David Herbert Procter, M.D., et al., Case No. 02CR11. 

 
6. On April 28, 2003, Dr. Procter appeared in court and entered a plea of guilty to counts one 

through three of the indictment in Case No. 02CR11.  Among other things, the written plea 
agreement reflects that the United States could prove the following facts beyond a 
reasonable doubt: 

 
Between December of 1997 through October of 1998, Dr. Procter distributed 
Schedule III and IV narcotics to [name redacted] without a legitimate medical 
purpose and outside the usual course of medical practice.  Ms. [name redacted] 
was his patient.  Initially, Dr. Procter treated her medical situation, but over time 
he prescribed excessive amounts of Schedule III and IV narcotics for her without 
concern for her medical needs and at a time when she was dependent upon the 
narcotics.  Additionally, he had sex with her in his office during a time when she 
was vulnerable and when she was dependent upon the narcotics.  David Herbert 
Procter, M.D. continued to write the narcotics, in part, in order to maintain the 
sexual relationship with her. 
 
Between November of 1996 through October of 1998, Dr. Procter distributed 
Schedule III and IV narcotics to [name redacted] without a legitimate medical 
purpose and outside the usual course of medical practice.  Ms. [name redacted] 
was his patient.  Initially, Dr. Procter treated her medical situation, but over time 
he prescribed excessive amounts of Schedule III and IV narcotics for her without 
concern for her medical needs and at a time when she was dependent upon the 
narcotics.  Additionally, he had sex with her in his office during a time when she 
was vulnerable and when she was dependent upon the narcotics.  David Herbert 
Procter, M.D. continued to write the narcotics, in part, in order to maintain the 
sexual relationship with her. 
 
Between 1996 and 1998, Dr. Procter saw an ever increasing number of patients.  
At times he saw as many as 80 or more in a day.  While many patients initially 
came to Dr. Procter with legitimate medical needs, often work related, 
Dr. Procter routinely prescribed Schedule II, III and IV narcotics for them month 
after month with out a legitimate medical purpose and outside the usual course 
of medical practice.  Many became dependent upon the narcotics.  These patients 
became his patient base.  For these patients, Dr. Procter performed limited, if 
any, meaningful medical examinations, kept minimal, if any, patient charts, and 
routinely wrote prescriptions for Lorcet, Valium, Xanax and Soma for them.  
Patients were required to come back monthly to generate additional office fees. 
Most of Dr. Procter’s patients paid in cash.  Many patients came from great 
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distances.  For one year, Dr. Procter was open on Saturday, but with few, if any 
of his regular staff.  On Saturday he saw patients wanting narcotic prescriptions 
and they paid strictly in cash. 
 
In January of 1998, investigators from the [Kentucky Board] obtained certain 
patient files or charts from Dr. Procter’s office.  In December of 1998, 
Dr. Procter surrendered his license to practice medicine to the [Kentucky Board].  
Thereafter, he kept his clinic open and his clinic continued to dispense Schedule 
II, III and IV narcotics by employing a series of locum tenens doctors from 
across the country. 
 
Not all of the locum tenens doctors dispensed narcotics to Dr. Procter’s patients 
to his satisfaction or to his patients’ desires for narcotics.  * * *  Although 
Dr. Procter limited or insulated his contact with the locum tenens doctors and 
their respective agencies, nevertheless he was in charge of his clinics in South 
Shore.  He regularly encouraged the doctors directly or indirectly through his 
office managers to see more patients each day and had them [ ] write narcotic 
prescriptions for his patients without a legitimate medical purpose and outside 
the usual course of medical practice. 

 
(St. Ex. 3A at 3-6) 

 
 During the April 28, 2003, hearing, Dr. Procter testified that, on average, his office brought 

in $75,000 or $80,000 per month.  (St. Ex. 12A at 24) 
 
7. On August 28, 2003, Dr. Procter was sentenced for the first three counts charged in Case 

No. 02CR11 to 200 months of imprisonment and three years of supervised release, and 
required to participate in an intensive drug abuse program during his incarceration and 
during his supervised release.  Additionally, Dr. Procter was required to pay a $250,000 
fine and a $300 assessment.  (St. Ex. 4) 

 
 Following an appeal, Dr. Procter was resentenced on April 24, 2006, for the convictions 

related to the first three counts charged in Case No. 02CR11.  The court imposed a total of 
141 months of imprisonment.  Moreover, the court:  (a) required Dr. Procter to participate 
in an intensive drug abuse program during his incarceration; (b) required, upon release 
from imprisonment, Dr. Procter to be on supervised release for a term of three years during 
which he shall participate in an intensive drug education and treatment program, shall 
abstain from alcohol, shall submit to drug and alcohol testing, and shall participate in a 
program of mental health treatment; and (c) ordered that, if Dr. Procter is deported upon 
release from imprisonment, the term of supervised release shall be tolled.  Additionally, 
Dr. Procter was required to pay a $250,000 fine and a $300 assessment.  (St. Ex. 5) 

 
8. On September 10, 2003, an indictment was filed in the United States District Court for the 

Eastern District of Kentucky charging Dr. Procter with two felony counts.  On October 8, 
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2003, a superseding indictment was filed, also charging Dr. Procter with two felony counts, 
including the following: 

 
Count 1:  David Herbert Procter, [redacted names] and others, did unlawfully 
and knowingly conspire to commit an offense against the laws of the United 
States, that is, for David Herbert Procter to flee the jurisdiction of the United 
States District Court, Eastern District of Kentucky and not appear for his 
sentencing [in Case No. 2CR11] which had been set for August 18, 2003, at 1:30 
p.m., in Ashland, Kentucky, a violation of 18 U.S.C. §3146(a). 
 
* * * 
 
The object and purpose of the conspiracy was for David Herbert Procter, with 
the assistance of [names redacted] and others, to flee the jurisdiction of the 
United States District Court at Ashland, Kentucky, to avoid a sentence of 
incarceration by surreptitiously traveling from the Ashland, Kentucky area 
through Canada to the Cayman Islands in the British West Indies, and for David 
Herbert Procter, with the assistance of [names redacted] and others, to relocate in 
the Cayman Islands of the British West Indies. 

 
(St. Exs. 8A and 9A)  That case was designated United States of America v. David Herbert 
Procter, et al., Case No. 03-4. 

 
9. On December 30, 2003, Dr. Procter entered into a plea agreement to resolve Case No. 03-4.  

Among other things, the written plea agreement reflects that the United States could prove 
the following facts beyond a reasonable doubt: 

 
In August of 2003, David Herbert Procter entered into a conspiracy with [names 
redacted] to flee the jurisdiction of the United States District Court at Ashland, 
Kentucky, and to avoid a sentence of incarceration by surreptitiously traveling 
from the Ashland, Kentucky area through Canada to the Cayman Islands in the 
British West Indies.  David Herbert Procter intended to relocate in the Cayman 
Islands in the British West Indies and begin a new medical practice with the help 
of co-conspirators [names redacted.] 
 
On August 13, 2003, David Herbert Procter and [name redacted] met with [name 
redacted] in his law offices in Portsmouth, Ohio.  [Name redacted] agreed to 
help David Herbert Procter relocate and become licensed in the Cayman Islands 
to practice medicine.  [Name redacted] was paid a sum of money for his part of 
the agreement.  Further, he agreed to travel to the Cayman Islands in advance of 
David Herbert Procter and [name redacted] and make ready for their arrival. 
 
* * * 
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Late on August 14 or early on August 15, 2003, David Herbert Procter and 
[name redacted] attempted to enter Canada in the Jeep Grand Cherokee via the 
Detroit, Michigan, tunnel between the United States and Canada. 

 
 (St. Ex. 10A at 2-3) 
 
10. On February 17, 2004, Dr. Procter appeared in court and entered a plea of guilty to Count 

One of the indictment in Case No. 03-4.   He was sentenced to 18 months of imprisonment 
to run concurrent with his term of incarceration in Case No. 02CR11.  The judgment entry 
further noted that, if Dr. Procter “gains legal right to be a citizen of the United States, he is 
to be placed on supervised release for a term of three (3) years, to be served concurrently 
with [Case No. 02CR11].”  The judgment entry also included additional conditions for the 
supervised release and a $100 assessment.  (St. Exs. 7, 11) 

 
11. On April 30, 2004, the Office of the Inspector General, Department of Health and Human 

Services, sent notice to Dr. Procter that he was being excluded from participation in 
Medicare, Medicaid, and all federal health care programs for a minimum period of 25 
years.  The notice reflected that it was effective 20 days thereafter and that the exclusion 
was based upon his felony conviction in Case No. 02CR11 related to the unlawful 
manufacture, distribution, prescription or dispensing of a controlled substance.  (St. Ex. 14) 

 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
1. On or about April 13, 1988, the Ohio Board reprimanded Dr. Procter for misrepresentation 

of fact in his certificate renewal application for the 1987-1988 biennium. 
 
2. On or about July 14, 1999, the Ohio Board summarily suspended Dr. Procter’s Ohio 

certificate on the ground that his continued practice presented a danger of immediate and 
serious harm to the public.  The summary suspension was based upon a June 18, 1999, 
Emergency Order of Suspension issued by the Kentucky Board that immediately 
suspended Dr. Procter’s Kentucky medical license. 

 
3. On or about November 8, 2000, the Ohio Board suspended Dr. Procter’s Ohio certificate 

to practice medicine and surgery in Ohio for an indefinite period of time with conditions 
for reinstatement, including that he provide the Ohio Board with acceptable documentation 
evidencing his full and unrestricted licensure in Kentucky. 

 
The Ohio Board found that the Kentucky Board, in its Emergency Order of Suspension, 
had found that there was probable cause to warrant findings of fact that, among other 
things:  (a) Dr. Procter had engaged in sexual activity with three female patients during 
office visits; (b) a review of more than 60 patient charts concluded that Dr. Procter had 
departed from and failed to conform to standards of acceptable and prevailing medical 
practice; (c) Dr. Procter had committed a pattern of acts which would be deemed to be 
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“gross incompetence, gross ignorance, gross negligence or malpractice;” (d) Dr. Procter’s 
neurologist had ordered him not to work due to having a memory deficit secondary to a 
closed head injury suffered in a traffic accident; and (e) a neuropsychological evaluation 
had recommended that Dr. Procter refrain from practicing medicine until the above deficits 
have remitted to permit adequate performance of duties. 

 
4. On or about August 28, 2003, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of 

Kentucky, in Case No. 02CR11, Dr. Procter pleaded guilty and was found guilty of one 
felony count of conspiracy to distribute and possession with intent to distribute Schedule 
II, III and IV controlled substances in violation of 21 U.S.C. 846; and two felony counts of 
distribution of Schedule III and IV controlled substances without a legitimate medical 
purpose/outside usual medical practice in violation of 21 U.S.C. 841(a)(1). 

 
The plea agreement in Case No. 02CR11 reflects that the government could prove beyond 
a reasonable doubt that:  (a) Dr. Procter prescribed excessive amounts of Schedule III and 
IV narcotics to two female patients and had sex with them in his office, without concern 
for their medical needs and at a time when they were vulnerable and dependent upon the 
narcotics; (b) Dr. Procter continued to write prescriptions for the narcotics, in part, to 
maintain the sexual relationships with those patients; (c) Dr. Procter saw as many as 80 or 
more patients per day, prescribing Schedule II, III and IV narcotics for them month after 
month without a legitimate medical purpose and outside the usual course of practice, with 
many becoming dependent upon the narcotics; and (d) these patients became his patient 
base. 

 
On or about April 24, 2006, Dr. Procter was resentenced for his convictions in Case  
No. 02CR11.  The Correction of Sentence on Remand provided for:  (a) imprisonment for 
a total term of 141 months; (b) required Dr. Procter to participate in an intensive drug 
abuse program during incarceration; (c) required that, upon release from imprisonment, 
Dr. Procter to be on supervised release for a term of three years during which he shall 
participate in an intensive drug education and treatment program, shall abstain from 
alcohol, shall submit to drug and alcohol testing, and shall participate in a program of 
mental health treatment; (d) ordered that, if Dr. Procter is deported upon release from 
imprisonment, the term of supervised release shall be tolled; and (e) required Dr. Procter to 
pay a criminal monetary penalty in the amount of $250,000. 

 
5. On or about February 17, 2004, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District 

of Kentucky, in Case No. 03-4, Dr. Procter pleaded guilty and was found guilty of one 
felony count of conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States in violation of 
18 U.S.C. 371. This plea agreement reflects that the government could prove beyond a 
reasonable doubt that:  (a) after Dr. Procter had entered into the plea agreement to three 
counts of the indictment in Case No. 02CR11 and prior to the scheduled sentencing 
hearing on August 18, 2003, Dr. Procter conspired, along with others, to flee the 
jurisdiction of the Court in Ashland, Kentucky, in order to avoid a sentence of 
incarceration; (b) intending to begin a new medical practice in the Cayman Islands, British 
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West Indies, Dr. Procter sought to surreptitiously travel from the Ashland, Kentucky area 
through Canada to the Cayman Islands; and (c) Dr. Procter attempted to enter Canada via 
the Detroit, Michigan tunnel between the United States and Canada late on August 14, 
2003, or early on August 15, 2003. 

 
 Dr. Procter was sentenced to 18 months of imprisonment to run concurrent with his term 

of incarceration in Case No. 02CR11.  The judgment entry further noted that, if Dr. Procter 
“gains legal right to be a citizen of the United States, he is to be placed on supervised 
release for a term of three (3) years, to be served concurrently with [Case No. 02CR11].”  
The court imposed additional conditions for the supervised release and a $100 assessment. 

 
6. On or about April 30, 2004, the Office of Inspector General, United States Department of 

Health and Human Services, issued a notice of exclusion to Dr. Procter from participation 
in Medicare, Medicaid, and all federal health care programs for a minimum period of 25 
years.  The exclusion was based upon his felony conviction in Case No. 02CR11 of a 
criminal offense related to the unlawful manufacture, distribution, prescription or 
dispensing of a controlled substance. 

 
 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 
1. The guilty plea and/or the judicial finding of guilt of Dr. Procter, as set forth in Finding of 

Fact 4 constitutes “[s]elling, giving away, personally furnishing, prescribing, or 
administering drugs for other than legal and legitimate therapeutic purposes or a plea of 
guilty to, a judicial finding of guilt of, or a judicial finding of eligibility for intervention in 
lieu of conviction of, a violation of any federal or state law regulating the possession, 
distribution, or use of any drug” as that language is used in Section 4731.22(B)(3), Ohio 
Revised Code. 

 
2. The guilty pleas and/or the judicial findings of guilt of Dr. Procter, as set forth in Findings 

of Fact 4 and 5 constitutes a “plea of guilty to, a judicial finding of guilt of, or a judicial 
finding of eligibility for intervention in lieu of conviction for, a felony,” as that language is 
used in Section 4731.22(B)(9), Ohio Revised Code. 

 
3. The April 30, 2004, notice of exclusion from the Office of Inspector General, United 

States Department of Health and Human Services, issued to Dr. Procter, as set forth in 
Finding of Fact 6, constitutes “[t]ermination or suspension from participation in the 
medicare or medicaid programs by the department of health and human services or other 
responsible agency for any act or acts that also would constitute a violation of division 
(B)(2), (3), (6), (8), or (19) of this section” as that language is used in Section 
4731.22(B)(25), Ohio Revised Code, to wit:  violation of 21 U.S.C. 846 and 841(a)(1). 
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